IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Ct.) No. S206084
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Court of Appeal) No. G046177
DANIEL INFANTE,) Superior Court) No. 10NF1137
Defendant and Appellant.) _)
APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF	F ORANGE COUNTY
Honorable Richard W. Stanford, Ju	dge SUPREME COURT FILED
APPELLANT'S OPENING BRI	EF MAR 2 7 2013
	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Stephen M. Hinkle, SBN 124407 11260 Donner Pass Truckee, CA 9616 (530) 553- 4425 Attorney for Appel	Road, C-1 PMB 138

By appointment of the California Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Ct.) No. S206084

STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT3
I. THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SHOW THAT APPELLANT COMMITTED DISTINCT INDEPENDENT FELONIOUS CRIMINAL CONDUCT SEPARATE FROM HIS POSSESSION OF A GUN
A. Introduction
B. The Standard of Review 5
C. The People Must Show Felonious Conduct Distinct From Appellant's Otherwise Misdemeanor Possession of a Gun
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE21
DECLARATION OF SERVICE22
Table of Authorities
Cases
In re Hayes (1969) 70 Cal.2d 604 17
In re Jorge P. (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 628 8, 12, 13
Neal v. State of California (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11
People v. Briceno (2004) 34 Cal.4th 45111

People v. Correa (2012) 54 Cal.4th 331
People v. Cromer (2001) 24 Cal.4th 8895
People v. Deloza (1998) 18 Cal.4th 585
People v. Haendiges (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d Supp. 9
People v. Harrison (1969) 1 Cal.App.3d 115
People v. Jones (2012) 54 Cal.4th 350
People v. Lamas (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516
People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106
Statutes
Penal Code section 186.22
Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (a)
Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1)11
Penal Code section 654
Penal Code section 654, subdivision (a)
Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (b)
Penal Code section 954
Penal Code section 995
Penal Code section 1192.7, subdivision (c)(28)
Penal Code section 12021, subdivision (2)
Penal Code section 12021, subdivision (a)(1)
Penal Code section 12025
Penal Code section 12025, subdivision (a)(1)

Penal Code section 12025, subdivision (a)(1)(b)(3)
Penal Code section 12025, subdivision (b)(3)
Penal Code section 12025, subdivision (b)(7)4
Penal Code section 12031
Penal Code section 12031, subdivision (a)(1) 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 14, 19, 20
Penal Code section 12031, subdivision (a)(1)(a)(2)(C))
Penal Code section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)6
Penal Code section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C).4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 14, 15, 16, 19
Penal Code section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(G)4
Other Authorities
CALCRIM No. 14006
California Rules of Court, rule 8.516 (a)(1)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Ct.) No. S206084
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Court of Appeal No. G046177
v.)
DANIEL INFANTE,) Superior Court) No. 10NF1137
Defendant and Appellant.)))
APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORA	NGE COUNTY

Honorable Richard W. Stanford, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ISSUE PRESENTED

(California Rules of Court, rule 8.516 (a)(1)

Did the Court of Appeal correctly determine that defendant committed independent felonious conduct that elevated his otherwise misdemeanor firearm possession to a felony and supported the charge of being an active participant in a criminal street gang in violation of Penal Code¹ section 186.22, subdivision (a)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed on June 3, 2010, charged appellant Daniel

¹ All further references are to the Penal Code, unless noted.

Infante in count one with having a concealed firearm in a vehicle as an active participant in a criminal street gang (§ 12025, subd. (a)(1)(b)(3)); in count two with carrying a loaded firearm in public as an active participant in a criminal street gang (§ 12031, subd. (a)(1)(a)(2)(C)); in count three with possession of a firearm by a felon (§ 12021, subd, (a)(1))²; and in count four with street terrorism. (§ 186.22, subd. (a).) Appellant was further charged with three prison priors. (§ 667.5, subd. (b).) (1CT pp. 173-175.)

On October 25, 2011, appellant filed a motion to dismiss counts one, two, and four, pursuant to section 995. (1CT p. 219.) On November 4, 2011, the court granted the motion as to counts one and two, and dismissed counts one and two³. (1CT pp. 252-254.)

The People filed a notice of appeal from the dismissal of counts one and two on December 5, 2011. (1CT p. 232.) On January 27, 2012, the People and appellant entered into a plea agreement where appellant pled guilty to counts three and four, and admitted all priors, in exchange for a stipulated prison sentence of two years. (Supp 1CT pp. 3, 7-8, Supp 1RT p. 3.)

On October 2, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion

² After this case was filed, sections 12021, 12031, and 12025 were renumbered without substantive changes as sections 29800, 25850, and 25400, respectively. As the record refers only to the prior sections, appellant will continue to refer to sections 12021, 12031, and 12025.

The court originally reduced both counts to misdemeanors. (1RT p. 11.) At the later request of the prosecution the court agreed to dismiss both counts. (1RT pp. 14-15.)

reversing the trial court. On January 16, 2013, this court granted review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS⁴

On April 1, 2010, appellant was driving a car with a fellow gang member and was stopped by the police. (1CT pp. 9-12.) A search of the car revealed two loaded firearms in a hidden compartment. (1CT pp. 20-21.) Appellant was a convicted felon and, it was argued, an active participant in a criminal street gang. (1CT pp. 61-65, 152-153.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SHOW THAT APPELLANT COMMITTED DISTINCT INDEPENDENT FELONIOUS CRIMINAL CONDUCT SEPARATE FROM HIS POSSESSION OF A GUN.

A. Introduction.

Appellant committed one physical act, that of possession of a firearm. Under section 954 that one act may be charged, depending on the circumstances, as multiple crimes. That was done so here with appellant being charged in count one with having a concealed firearm in a vehicle as an active participant in a criminal street gang (§ 12025, subd. (a)(1)(b)(3)); in count two with carrying a loaded firearm in public as an active participant in a criminal street gang (§ 12031, subd. (a)(1)(a)(2)(C)); and in count three with possession of a firearm by a felon (§ 12021, subd, (a)(1).)

⁴ Taken from the preliminary hearing.

(1CT pp. 173-175.)

Violations of sections 12025 and 12031 are normally deemed misdemeanors. (§§ 12025, subd. (b)(7), 12031, subd. (a)(2)(G).) However, each section contains a provision elevating the offense to a felony when the defendant is proved to be "an active participant in a criminal street gang, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 186.22, under the Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act " (§§ 12025, subd. (b)(3), 12031, subd. (a)(2)(C).) In this case the Court of Appeal held that the felony offense of felon in possession of a gun (§ 12021, subd., (a)(1)) was sufficient to establish the substantive gang charge as well as elevate the other nominally misdemeanor offenses into felony offenses. This court has held, however, in People v. Lamas (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516, that what is required is felonious conduct that is distinct from the otherwise misdemeanor possession of the firearm. In defining the issue in this case, this court clarified that the question was whether "defendant committed independent felonious conduct that elevated his otherwise misdemeanor firearm possession to a felony and supported the charge of being an active participant in a criminal street gang in violation of section 186.22, subdivision (a)." (emphasis added). Appellant's position is that since all three of these offenses occurred during a single physical act, appellant did not commit independent felonious conduct that would allow his

misdemeanor firearm possessions to be elevated to felonies by the same felony that was used to establish the substantive gang offense.

B. The Standard of Review.

The issue presents a pure question of law, and is reviewed de novo. (*People v. Cromer* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889, 894.)

C. <u>The People Must Show Felonious Conduct Distinct From Appellant's Otherwise Misdemeanor Possession of a Gun.</u>

As noted above, both the offense in count one, having a concealed firearm in a vehicle (§ 12025, subd. (a)(1), and the offense in count two, carrying a loaded firearm in public (§ 12031, subd. (a)(1) are nominally misdemeanor offenses. Both offenses are elevated to felonies when the defendant is an active participant in a criminal street gang. (§ 12025, subd. (b)(3), § 12031, subd. (a)(2)(C).)

In *People v. Robles* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, the defendant was charged with possession of a loaded firearm in public as a felony under subdivision (a)(2)(C) of section 12031. As this court noted, "That subdivision elevates from a misdemeanor to a felony the offense of carrying a loaded firearm in public when committed by 'an active participant in a criminal street gang, *as defined in* subdivision (a) of Section 186.22, under the Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act.'
[Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 1109.) The *Robles* court stated its task was "to ascertain what the Legislature meant by [an active participant in a criminal

street gang, as defined in section 186.22(a)]." (Ibid.)

This court construed the language in section 12031, subdivision (a)(2) "as referring to the substantive gang offense defined in section 186.22(a)." (People v. Robles, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 1115.) As a result, this court concluded possession of a loaded firearm in public is punished as a felony under section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) "when a defendant satisfies the elements of the offense described in section 186.22(a). Those elements are [1] 'actively participat[ing] in any criminal street gang [2] with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity' and [3] 'willfully promot[ing], further[ing], or assist[ing] in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang.' [Citation.]" (People v. Robles, 23 Cal.4th at p. 1115; see CALCRIM No. 1400.) In other words, a violation of section 186.22, subdivision (a) is a prerequisite to elevating a violation of section 12031 from a misdemeanor to a felony under subdivision (a)(2)(C) of the latter section.

In *People v. Lamas*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, this court again confronted the interplay between section 186.22, subdivision (a) and section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C). This time the issue was whether possession of a loaded firearm in public — again, normally a misdemeanor — could serve as the felonious criminal conduct necessary to fulfill the third element of a section 186.22, subdivision (a) violation. (*Id.* at pp. 519-520.) In connection with the gang charge, the jury in *Lamas* had been

instructed, in pertinent part: "[f]elonious criminal conduct includes carrying a loaded firearm in a public place by a gang member... or ... carrying a concealed firearm by a gang member." (*Id.* at pp. 521-522, italics and fn. omitted.) The problem with this instruction was evident. It used a misdemeanor offense as the felonious criminal conduct necessary to prove the defendant violated the gang statute, a clear example of bootstrapping.

This court corrected the situation by holding that "all of section 186.22(a)'s elements must be satisfied, including that defendant willfully promoted, furthered, or assisted felonious conduct by his fellow gang members before section 12031(a)(2)(C) applies to elevate defendant's section 12031, subdivision (a)(1) misdemeanor offense to a felony. Stated conversely, section 12031(a)(2)(C) applies only after section 186.22(a) has been *completely* satisfied by conduct *distinct from* the otherwise misdemeanor conduct of carrying a loaded weapon in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(1)." (People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524, italics original.) This court concluded, "defendant's misdemeanor conduct—being a gang member who carries a loaded firearm in public cannot satisfy section 186.22(a)'s third element, felonious conduct, and then be used to elevate the otherwise misdemeanor offense to a felony." (*Ibid*.)

Left unanswered was the following: "[w]e do not address the issue raised in briefing regarding whether the felonious conduct requirement in section 186.22(a) can be satisfied with conduct that occurs contemporaneously with otherwise misdemeanor gun offenses because the record does not contain evidence that defendant [Lamas] engaged in *any* felonious conduct, either concurrently with, or prior to, his misdemeanor gun offenses." (*People v. Lamas, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 526, fn. 9.)

This issue was addressed in *Jorge P.*, whether a felony offense, based on the same conduct as the misdemeanor offense, can support the section 186.22, subdivision (a) violation and by extension elevate the misdemeanor to a felony. (*In re Jorge P.* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 635.)

The court in *Jorge P*. held: "We conclude the prosecution must prove felonious conduct *distinct* from the conduct that underlies the 12031(a)(1) offense, notwithstanding the possibility that a separate felony offense may be charged based on the same underlying conduct.

Misdemeanor conduct that would be impermissibly used to support the gang allegation in count 1 under *Lamas* cannot be transformed into viable felonious conduct simply by charging a different offense." (*In re Jorge P., supra,* 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 637, italics added.)

The Court of Appeal in the present case disagreed with the holding in *Jorge P.*, stating: "We respectfully disagree with our colleagues in the

Fifth Appellate District. It appears to us the rationale implicit in both *Robles* and *Lamas* was to preclude the prosecution from bootstrapping what would otherwise be misdemeanor conduct into the "felonious criminal conduct" required to find a violation of section 186.22(a), and then having purportedly established a violation of that section, using that violation to elevate misdemeanor firearm possession into a felony in a nunc pro tunclike fashion.

Bootstrapping is not present when, as in the present case, possession of the firearm is *independently* punishable as a felony under another penal statute. In such a case, a violation of section 186.22(a) rests on the felonious criminal conduct of the defendant, not conduct punishable only as a misdemeanor *until* a violation of section 186.22(a) has been established. When possession of the firearm is independently punishable as a felony under some other statutory provision, such as it is in this case under section 12021, subdivision (a)(1) (convicted felon in possession of a firearm), that possession may be used as the felonious criminal conduct necessary to establish a violation of section 186.22(a)." (Court of Appeal opinion at pp. 3-4.)

The flaw in this reasoning is that the identical conduct is being used by the Court of Appeal to elevate the misdemeanor gun charge into a felony on the basis of that conduct being independently punishable as a felony.

This court stated "section 12031(a)(2)(C) applies only *after* section

186.22(a) has been *completely* satisfied by conduct *distinct from* the otherwise misdemeanor conduct of carrying a loaded weapon in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(1)." (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524, italics original.) The charge to counsel in this case was defined as whether "defendant committed *independent* felonious conduct that elevated his otherwise misdemeanor firearm possession to a felony and supported the charge of being an active participant in a criminal street gang in violation of section 186.22(a)." It would therefore appear that this court is equating the term "distinct" criminal conduct with "independent" criminal conduct, an interpretation that is consistent with case law.

The conduct or the physical act in this case - that of having a loaded weapon or having a concealed weapon - is the identical conduct or physical act to possession of a gun by a felon. The only difference between what would be a misdemeanor charge and what would be a felony charge is appellant's status as a felon. This is therefore not felony conduct *distinct* or *independent* from the otherwise misdemeanor conduct, but is the *identical* conduct.

The court in *Jorge P*. based its decision on the distinction between felony conduct, and a felony offense. Section 186.22, subdivision (a) states, in relevant part: "Any person who actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and who willfully promotes, furthers, or

assists in any felonious criminal *conduct* by members of that gang...(italics added.) *Jorge P.* stated: "If the Legislature desired to specify felonious criminal *offenses*, or expand the scope of the conduct required, it had ample opportunity and ability to do so. (Compare § 186.22, subd. (b)(1) ['any person who is convicted of a felony committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in *any criminal conduct* by gang members ...' (italics added)] with § 1192.7, subd. (c)(28) [making 'any felony *offense*, which would constitute a felony *violation* of Section 186.22' a serious felony (italics added)]; *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 458–459.) Thus, 'conduct' and 'offense' are not synonymous for purposes of a section 186.22(a) analysis." (*In re Jorge P., supra*, 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 636.)

This court in *Lamas* alluded to the distinction between conduct and offenses as well. It noted, "'misdemeanor convictions do not constitute "felonious criminal conduct[,]"' and that "[i]t logically follows that *misdemeanor conduct* similarly cannot constitute 'felonious criminal conduct' within the meaning of section 186.22." (*People v. Lamas*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 524.)

In this case the single physical act required of all three firearm offenses was the possession or carrying of the gun. Appellant's behavior, actions and omissions constituted a single course of conduct from which all

three offenses arose. As the court in *Jorge P*. stated: "We conclude the prosecution must prove felonious conduct distinct from the conduct that underlies the 12031(a)(1) offense, notwithstanding the possibility that a separate felony offense may be charged based on the same underlying conduct. Misdemeanor conduct that would be impermissibly used to support the gang allegation in count 1 under *Lamas* cannot be transformed into viable felonious conduct simply by charging a different offense." (*In re Jorge P., supra,* 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 637.)

The rationale behind *Jorge P*. is well reasoned, and consistent with this court's holding in *Lamas*. The legislature in specifically referring to criminal *conduct* in section 186.22 as opposed to criminal *offenses*, is requiring distinct or independent criminal conduct on the part of an individual to elevate what would otherwise be a misdemeanor to a felony. The legislature is well aware that one act of criminal conduct may be charged as different offenses under section 954, and by specifying conduct in section 186.22 is impliedly rejecting the use of a single physical act to bootstrap a misdemeanor into a felony.

The Court of Appeal in this case noted another issue with the holding in *Jorge P*. It stated "the *Lamas* court stated the prosecution's obligation to prove felonious criminal conduct distinct from a defendant's otherwise misdemeanor conduct of carrying a loaded or concealed weapon in public "applies to the substantive charge that defendant is an active

participant of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22(a)) and to the gun offenses that elevate to felonies only upon proof that defendant satisfied Robles's requirements under section 186.22(a)." (People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 520, italics added.) Although *In re Jorge P.* did not involve a charge of 186.22(a) (In re Jorge P. supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 630), the reasoning and conclusion reached therein would appear to prohibit a defendant from being convicted of violating section 186.22(a) where the underlying felonious criminal conduct involved a convicted felon's possession of a firearm (§ 12021, subds. (a)(1), (2)) if the firearm was possessed in public and was loaded or concealed on the defendant's person, even if the defendant was not charged with violating section 12025 or 12031. This would be true because (1) under *Jorge P.*, such felonious conduct would not be considered *distinct from* the otherwise misdemeanor conduct of possessing a loaded or concealed firearm in public (In re Jorge P., supra, 197 Cal. App. 4th at p. 638), and (2) under Lamas, the rule that the felonious criminal conduct necessary to find a violation under section 186.22(a) must be distinct from a defendant's otherwise misdemeanor conduct of possessing a loaded firearm in public applies to the *substantive* gang charge, as well as to misdemeanor firearm offenses elevated to felony status upon proof the defendant violated section 186.22(a) (People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 524). We do not think the Legislature or our Supreme Court intended such a result." (Court of Appeal opinion at pp. 1213.)

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