#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STAT	TE OF CALIFORNIA,	
		No. S206084
	Plaintiff/Respondent,	•
		Court of Appeal
VS.		No. G046177
DANIEL INFANTE,	•	(Superior Court
		Case No. 10NF1137)
	Defendant/Appellant.	
		)

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FOLLOWING THE APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY THE HONORABLE RICHARD W. STANFORD, JUDGE PRESIDING

TONY RACKAUCKAS, DISTRICT ATTORNEY COUNTY OF ORANGE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA BY: BRIAN F. FITZPATRICK DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY EMAIL: brian.fitzpatrick@da.ocgov.com STATE BAR NO. 165480 POST OFFICE BOX 808 SANTA ANA, CALIFORNIA 92702 TELEPHONE: (714) 347-8789 FAX: (714) 834-5706

Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

### A. A VIOLATION OF SECTION 12021 IS INDEPENDENT FELONIOUS CRIMINAL CONDUCT AND PROPERLY ELEVATES SECTIONS 12031 AND 12025 TO FELONIES

In pertinent part, both section 12031, subdivision (a)(1) and section 12025, subdivision (a)(1) prohibit the carrying of firearms. (Pen. Code, §§ 12031, subd. (a)(1), 12025, subd. (a)(1).)<sup>2</sup> Section 12031 prohibits carrying a loaded firearm in a vehicle. (Pen. Code, § 12031, subd. (a)(1).) Section 12025 prohibits carrying a concealed firearm within a vehicle. (Pen. Code, § 12025, subd. (a)(1).) Without more, a violation of either statute is a misdemeanor. (Pen. Code, §§ 12031, subd. (a)(2)(G), 12025, subd. (b)(7).)

These offenses are elevated to felonies where the person is an "active participant in a criminal street gang, as defined in [section 186.22(a)]." (Pen. Code, §§ 12031, subd. (a)(2)(C), 12025, subd. (b)(3).) This requires proof of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> After the instant case was filed, sections 12021, 12031, and 12025 were renumbered without substantive changes as section 29800, 25850, and 25400, respectively. (Pen. Code, §§ 29800, 25850, 25400.) For purposes of this appeal, the People continue to refer to sections 12021, 12031, and 12025.

all the elements of section 186.22, subdivision (a), including proof the person "willfully promote[d], further[ed], or assist[ed] in any felonious criminal conduct by members of [the] gang, ...." (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (a); *People v. Robles* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1115 [interpreting section 12031, subd. (a)(2)(C)]; *People v. Lamas* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516, 524-525 [applying *Robles* to section 12031, subd. (a)(2)(C).)

A defendant who possesses two loaded and concealed firearms in a car violates section 12021, subdivision (a)(1) – felon in possession of a firearm. (Pen. Code, § 12021, subd. (a)(1).) This violation constitutes "felonious criminal conduct." (People v. Green (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 692, 704, abrogated on another point in People v. Castenada (1991) 23 Cal.4th 743, 752, ["felonious criminal conduct" means conduct amounting to commission of an offense punishable by state prison sentence].) This felonious criminal conduct can satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element. Where the person is also an active participant in the criminal street gang, all of section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s elements are satisfied independent of any proof under section 12031 or 12025. All of the elements needed to prove a violation of section 12031 and section 12025 are satisfied. Accordingly, a violation of section 12021, subdivision (a)(1) constitutes independent felonious criminal conduct and properly elevates sections 12031 and 12025 to felonies.

## B. THIS CASE IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN LAMAS

Defendant, and *In re Jorge P*. (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 628, rely upon one line in *Lamas* wherein the Court stated,

Stated conversely, section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) applies only *after* section 186.22, subdivision (a) has been *completely* satisfied by conduct *distinct from* the otherwise misdemeanor conduct of carrying a loaded weapon in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(1).

(People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524, italics in original.)

Defendant claims this line means felonious criminal conduct that involves the possession of a firearm cannot be used to elevate section 12031 or section 12025 violations to felonies. As we explain, defendant misreads and misunderstands this Court's statement. *Lamas* does not support defendant's position.

When properly read in context, this Court's statement in *Lamas* simply means that a gang member's misdemeanor firearm possession under section 12031 or section 12025 cannot be used to *first* elevate those charges to felonies and *thereafter* satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s "felonious criminal conduct" element within sections 12031 and 12025.

This interpretation is supported by the issue presented in *Lamas*. In contrast to our case, there was no felonious criminal conduct in *Lamas*. The only criminal conduct was the "defendant's misdemeanor conduct – being a gang member who carries a loaded firearm in public ...." (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.)<sup>3</sup> The issue presented was whether that misdemeanor conduct could satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s "felonious conduct" element within the elements sections 12031 and 12025. (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.) Obviously, misdemeanor conduct cannot be used to prove felonious conduct. (*Ibid.*)

Therefore, this Court clarified that the People could not elevate the firearm charges to felonies because section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s "felonious conduct" element must be proved *before* either section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) or section 12025, subdivision (b)(3) applies to elevate a defendant's otherwise misdemeanor conduct to a felony. (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.) The Court's language in *Lamas* had nothing to do with preventing the People from using felonious conduct based in part upon the defendant's unlawful firearm possession to satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element.

The defendant in *Lamas* was found not guilty of receiving stolen property. (*People v. Lamas, supra,* 42 Cal.4th 516, 521.)

This Court's language in *Lamas* further illustrates this point. The Court stated.

[A]ll of section 186.22(a)'s elements must be satisfied, including [the felonious conduct element] before section 12031(a)(2)(C) applies to elevate defendant's section 12031, subdivision (a)(1) misdemeanor offense to a felony.

(*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.) The Court then reiterated that, "[s]tated conversely," misdemeanor firearm possession under section 12031 can only be elevated to a felony

[A]fter section 186.22(a) has been *completely* satisfied by conduct *distinct from* the otherwise misdemeanor conduct of carrying a loaded weapon in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(1).

(People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.)

When read in context, the pertinent statement in *Lamas* was meant to clarify the Court's preceding sentence concerning the order of proof. The statement merely meant: misdemeanor firearm possession, without more, cannot be used to prove section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s felonious criminal conduct element. The Court's subsequent conclusion illustrates this point.

The court concluded,

Therefore, defendant's misdemeanor conduct – being a gang member who carries a loaded firearm in public – cannot satisfy section 186.22(a)'s third element, felonious conduct, and then be used to elevate the otherwise misdemeanor offense to a felony.

(People v. Lamas, supra, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524.)

Our case and *Jorge P*. are different than *Lamas*. In both cases, the accused committed felonious criminal conduct. In *Jorge P*., the minor violated section 12101, subdivision (a)(1) and the court's discussion assumed it would be a felony violation. (*In re Jorge P., supra*, 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 635, 637.) In our case, defendant violated section 12021, subdivision (a)(1) – felon in possession of a firearm. That felonious criminal conduct can satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element independent of any gang allegations under section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) or section 12025, subdivision (b)(3). That separate felonious criminal conduct can elevate violations of section 12031 and section 12025 to felonies. Nothing in our case runs afoul of this Court's opinion in *Lamas*.

# C. THERE IS NO MEANINGFUL REASON TO ADOPT DEFENDANT'S LIMITATION

Conspicuously missing from both defendant's brief and from the opinion in *Jorge P*. is any meaningful explanation of why a defendant's separate felonious criminal conduct under section 12021 (convicted felon in possession of a firearm) cannot satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s "felonious criminal conduct" element to elevate misdemeanor firearm offenses under sections 12031 and 12025 to felonies. If the Legislature wanted to exclude such felonious conduct, it could have done so. Neither section 12031, nor section 12025, however, suggests the felonious criminal conduct must be unrelated to the defendant's firearm offenses.

Nonetheless, defendant suggests his conclusion and the decision in *Jorge P.* are based upon his asserted "distinction between felony conduct, and a felony offense." (Def. brief at p. 10.) Neither defendant, nor the court in *Jorge P.*, defined the terms or explained why any purported "distinction" between them would make a difference in this case. When properly understood, any distinction between felony "conduct" and a felony "offense" leads to the opposite conclusion defendant draws.

As used in section 186.22, subdivision (a), "felonious criminal conduct" means "conduct which is clearly felonious, i.e., conduct which amounts to the commission of an offense punishable by imprisonment in state prison." (*People v. Green, supra*, 227 Cal.App.3d 692, 704; *In re Alberto R.* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1309, 1320; see also CALCRIM No. 1400 [felonious criminal conduct is the commission or attempted commission of a felony offense].) Thus, whether conduct is "felonious" depends upon whether it can be prosecuted as a felony – an offense punishable by imprisonment in state prison or in county jail under section 1170, subdivision (h). (See Pen. Code, § 17, subd. (a).) "Misdemeanor conduct" is conduct that amounts to the commission of any other non-felony offense except an infraction. (See Pen. Code, § 17, subd. (a).)

This distinction was illustrated in the context of petty theft in *People v. Stevens* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 982. "Petty theft is ordinarily a misdemeanor because of the manner in which it is usually punished: ...." (*Id.* at p. 987.) When section 666, a sentencing statute applies, "a subsequent petty theft can be a felony. [Citation.]" (*People v. Stevens, supra*, 48 Cal.App.4th 982, 987.) If the court selects a felony punishment, "the subsequent petty theft is not merely *punished* as a felony: *it is* a felony." (*Ibid.*, italics in original; see also

People v. Morgan (2011) 194 Cal. App. 4th 79, 83 [hate crime penalty provision elevates "otherwise misdemeanor conduct to felony conduct because" crime was committed for purpose of interfering with victim's civil rights].)

This distinction was also illustrated in *Lamas* wherein the Court noted the People's agreement that "'misdemeanor convictions do not constitute "felonious criminal conduct[,]" .... " (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524, modification in original.) Felonious criminal conduct is conduct that amounts to a felony offense. Misdemeanor convictions do not qualify. As this Court subsequently stated in *Lamas*, "*misdemeanor conduct* [] cannot constitute 'felonious criminal conduct' within the meaning of section 186.22." (*People v. Lamas, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, 524, italics in original.)

The relevant distinction under section 12031 and *Lamas* is between "felony conduct" and "misdemeanor conduct," not between "criminal conduct" and a "criminal offense." Because a felony or misdemeanor "offense" is defined by the "conduct" required for its commission, there is no meaningful distinction between "criminal conduct" and a "criminal offense." Instead of stating "felonious criminal conduct" in section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element, the Legislature could have used the phrase "the commission of a felony offense" and obtained the same meaning. Accordingly, defendant's

reliance upon some asserted distinction between felony conduct and a felony offense does not help him.

Defendant's claim regarding legislative intent is also unavailing. Defendant claims the Legislature purposefully used "conduct" rather than "offense" in section 186.22, subdivision (a) to preclude the prosecution from using gun-related felonious criminal conduct to satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element under section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) or section 12025, subdivision (b)(3). As mentioned above, defendant misunderstands the meaning of felony conduct and felony offense. They could have been used interchangeably to define section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element.

In any event, the Legislature enacted section 186.22 eight years before adding section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C) and section 12025, subdivision (b)(3). (Stats. 1988, ch. 1256, § 1; Stats. 1996, ch. 787.) It makes no sense to claim the Legislature's choice of words in section 186.22 reflects an intent regarding the type of conduct needed to elevate section 12031 or section 12025 misdemeanors to felonies.

Defendant suggests the Legislature used the word "conduct" in section 186.22, subdivision (a) to reject "the use of a single physical act to bootstrap a misdemeanor into a felony." (Def. brief at p. 12.) Defendant's position is

undermined by *Jorge P.* – the case he relies upon. In *Jorge P.*, the court acknowledged its case did not involve the impermissible bootstrapping of gang statutes to impose additional penalties as discussed in *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451 and *People v. Arroyas* (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1439. (*In re Jorge P., supra*, 197 Cal.App.4th 628, 637.)

In *People v. Jones* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 566, this Court identified the problem discussed in *Briceno* and *Arroyas*. In those cases, the same gang-related fact – that the crime was committed to benefit a criminal street gang – would be used to obtain increased punishment under two different gang statutes. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 566, 574-575.) In *Briceno*, it would make a felony a serious felony under section 1192.7, subdivision (c)(28) and then impose additional punishment for gang-related serious felonies under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1)(B). (*People v. Jones, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 566, 574.) In *Arroyas*, it would elevate a misdemeanor to a felony under section 186.22, subdivision (d) and then impose additional punishment for a gang-related felony under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1). (*People v. Jones, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 566, 574.)

Our case is different. There is no impermissible bootstrapping and no dual use of the same gang-related fact. Section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element is satisfied by the defendant's felonious criminal conduct of

possessing a firearm as a convicted felon in violation of section 12021. This conduct is not gang-related. Sections 12031 and 12025 are then elevated to felonies because, as required by *Robles*, all of section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s elements are met. Our case bears no resemblance to *Briceno* or *Arroyas*.

Defendant's reference to one act giving rise to more than one criminal offense and section 654 does not help him. Nothing prevents the prosecution from using a felon's possession of a firearm to satisfy section 186.22, subdivision (a)'s third element and then using that same possession and the defendant's gang participation to elevate section 12031 and section 12025 misdemeanors to felonies.

Penal Code section 654 shows a person may be convicted of different crimes for the same underlying "act or omission." (Pen. Code, § 654, subd. (a).) The same act may increase a defendant's criminal liability under different code sections. This Court illustrated one such example in *People v. Jones, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 566. There, the defendant shot at an inhabited dwelling (§ 246). His maximum sentence increased from 7 years to 15 years to life for gang misconduct under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4). A 20-year sentence enhancement was then added under section 12022.53 (shooting a gun during the commission of a felony punishable by life) even though the defendant's "underlying conduct" (shooting a gun) remained the same. This Court

explained the additional 20-year enhancement applied, not because the defendant committed a gang-related offense, but because he committed a crime so serious it was punishable by life imprisonment. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 47 Cal.4th 566, 575.)

Similarly, in our case, defendant's felonious criminal conduct was unrelated to his gang activity. He was a felon in possession of a firearm under section 12021. This felonious criminal conduct elevated sections 12031 and 12025 to felonies.<sup>4</sup> Contrary to defendant's suggestion, this case does not involve impermissible bootstrapping.

Defendant's reference to *People v. Jones* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 350 and multiple punishment under section 654 is misplaced. Nothing in *Jones* reversed the defendant's convictions for violating the sections 12021, 12025 and 12031. Rather, the Court addressed whether he could be punished for more than one of those crimes. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 54 Cal.4th 350, 352.)

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